COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT

BETWEEN



THE CITY OF EDGEWOOD

AND THE



CENTRAL FLORIDA POLICE BENEVOLENT ASSOCIATION

AND THE



OFFICERS AND SERGEANTS OF THE EDGEWOOD POLICE DEPARTMENT

OCTOBER 1, 2020 THROUGH SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| TABLE OF CONTENTS | |
|---|------|
| PREAMBLE | 1 |
| ARTICLE 1 – RECOGNITION | 2 |
| Article 2 – Non-Discrimination | З |
| Article 3 – Management Rights | 4 |
| ARTICLE 4 – EMPLOYEE DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURES | 6 |
| ARTICLE 5 – SAFETY HEALTH | 17 |
| ARTICLE 6 – RESIDENCY REQUIREMENTS | 19 |
| ARTICLE 7 – BULLETIN BOARDS | 20 |
| ARTICLE 8 – SENIORITY, LAYOFF AND RECALL | 21 |
| Article 9 – Wages | 24 |
| ARTICLE 10 – WORK WEEK AND WORK SHIFT | 27 |
| ARTICLE 11 – OVERTIME | 29 |
| ARTICLE 12 – EXTRA TIME PROVISIONS | 30 |
| Article 13 – Legal Procedures | 32 |
| ARTICLE 14 – PERSONAL LEAVE | 33 |
| ARTICLE 15 – JOB-CONNECTED DISABILITY | 36 |
| ARTICLE 16 – PUBLICATION OF AGREEMENT | 37 |
| ARTICLE 17 – LEAVE OF ABSENCE | . 38 |
| ARTICLE 18 – INSURANCE | . 39 |
| Article 19 – Pension | . 40 |
| Article 20 – Educational Incentive | 41 |
| ARTICLE 21 – EQUIPMENT ISSUE AND CLOTHING ALLOWANCE | 42 |
| Article 22 – Promotions | . 45 |

| Article 23 – Voting | 48 |
|---|----|
| Article 24 – Grievance Procedures | 49 |
| ARTICLE 25 – ARBITRATION | |
| ARTICLE 26 – PHYSICAL EXAMINATION AND WORKERS COMP BENEFITS | 54 |
| Article 27 – General Provisions | 55 |
| ARTICLE 28 – NO STRIKE, WORK STOPPAGES, OR SLOWDOWNS | 58 |
| Article 29 – – Entire Agreement | 59 |
| ARTICLE 30 – DUES DEDUCTION | 60 |
| ARTICLE 31 – INDEMNIFICATION | 61 |
| Article 32 – Union Business | 62 |
| Article 33 – Severability | 63 |
| Article 34 – Holidays | 64 |
| Article 35 – Bereavement Leave | 65 |
| Article 36 –Intentionally Blank | 67 |
| ARTICLE 37 – EMPLOYEE REPRESENTATION AND PBA ACTIVITIES | 68 |
| ARTICLE 38 – PERSONNEL RECORDS | 72 |
| ARTICLE 39 – ACTING RANKS | 74 |
| ARTICLE 40 - LABOR MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE | 75 |
| ARTICLE 41 – DURATION | 76 |
| CONTRACT SIGNATURES | 78 |

PREAMBLE

This Agreement is entered into, by and between the City of Edgewood, and hereinafter referred to as the "City" or "Employer" and the Central Florida Police Benevolent Association, Inc., a Chapter of the Florida Police Benevolent Association, Inc. hereinafter referred to as the "Union" or "PBA".

It is the purpose of this Agreement to achieve and maintain harmonious relations between the City and the Union; to provide for equitable and peaceful adjustment of differences which may arise during its term concerning the meaning, application, or enforcement of any of its provisions and to establish agreed upon standards of wages, monetary benefits, hours, and other conditions of employment upon which they are earned during the term of this Agreement. It is also intended to set forth the rights, prerogatives, and authority of the City as they relate to employment hours and terms and conditions.

ARTICLE 1 RECOGNITION

1.1 Recognition of the Central Florida Police Benevolent Association, Inc., a Chapter of the Florida Police Benevolent Association, Inc. was established by an order of the Florida Public Employees Relations Commission in case Number RC-87-010, recognizing the Central Florida Police Benevolent Association, Inc., a Chapter of the Florida Police Benevolent Association, Inc., a Chapter of the Florida Police Benevolent Association, Inc., a Chapter of the Florida Police Benevolent Association, Inc., a Chapter of the Florida Police Benevolent Association, Inc., a Chapter of the Florida Police Benevolent Association, Inc., a Chapter of the Florida Police Benevolent Association, Inc., a Chapter of the Florida Police Officer and Police Sergeant as defined by the Public Employees Relations Commission, excluding all other employees of the City of Edgewood.

ARTICLE 2 NON-DISCRIMINATION

- 2.1 Neither the Union nor the City shall discriminate against any employee on the basis of race, color, religion, age, sex, sexual orientation, national origin, or Union membership or non-membership, or any other statutory prohibitive discrimination practice or activity.
- 2.2 The use in this Agreement of the male gender designation "he" in referring to an employee shall also include the female gender and is used for convenience purposes only.
- 2.3 The parties recognize the City has established internal procedures to investigate and resolve alleged cases of discrimination, consistent with standards and procedures established by local, state and federal law. Accordingly, the parties agree alleged cases of discrimination shall be processed through the City's internal procedures and shall not be subject to the grievance and arbitration procedures of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 3 MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

3.1 Except to the extent that the Employer has agreed otherwise by the terms of this Agreement, the Employer shall have the exclusive right and unilateral authority to determine and from time to time re-determine and direct the policies, determine mode and methods of performing all its work of any sort, without any interference in the management or conduct of the Employer's operations on the part of the Union or any of its representatives.

The Employer shall have the exclusive legal right to take any action it deems necessary or appropriate in the management of the City of Edgewood Police Department and the direction of its work force. All rights and functions which the Employer has not expressly modified or restricted by a specific provision of this Agreement are retained and vested exclusively in the Employer.

Such rights exclusively reserved to the Employer shall include, but are not limited to, the right to determine the size and composition of its work forces; to determine work schedules and all methods of police protection and related services; to assign overtime work; to determine the number and types of equipment, processes, materials, products and supplies to be used, operated or distributed; to hire, retire, promote, demote, evaluate, transfer, assign, direct, layoff, recall, reward, reprimand, suspend, discharge and otherwise discipline employees for just cause; to maintain efficiency of employees; to determine job content and qualifications for job classifications; to determine the amounts and types of work to be performed by employees; to establish and change work rules, Standard Operating Procedures and General Orders; to establish new jobs and to abolish or change existing jobs; to increase or decrease the number of jobs or employees; to determine whether and to what extent the work required in its operations shall be performed by employees covered by this Agreement; to use managerial, supervisory or

other non-unit employees or part-time/reserve/volunteer personnel to perform work performed by employees of the unit; to determine the assignment of work; to schedule the hours and days to be worked by employees; to permanently or temporarily discontinue, or to sell, convey, transfer or assign all or any part of its facilities, functions, services or other operations; to open new facilities; to transfer or assign employees to new facilities; to make studies of workloads, job assignments, method of operation and efficiency from time to time and to make changes based on said studies; to expand, reduce, alter, combine, transfer, assign, cease or create any job, job classification, department or operation; to institute, modify or terminate any bonus or work incentive plan excluding longevity pay or educational incentive; to control and regulate or discontinue the use of supplies, machinery, equipment, vehicles and other property owned, used, possessed or leased by it; to make or change rules, policies and practices not in conflict with the provisions of this Agreement; to introduce new, different or improved methods, means, processes, maintenance, service and operations; and otherwise generally to manage the Police Department, and direct the work force.

- 3.2 In addition to, or in further explanation of those rights of the City of Edgewood set forth above, in its charter, code, ordinances, resolutions, and in State Statutes, the parties specifically acknowledge that the City shall:
 - A. Have the unilateral authority to hire, and establish and change the procedures for hiring;
 - B. Discipline employees for just cause;
 - C. Have the unilateral authority to determine what work will be performed, when it will be performed, and by whom it will be performed within the Bargaining Unit;
 - D. Have the unilateral authority to determine whether work will be subcontracted to a private entity or transferred to another governmental entity;
 - A. Have the unilateral authority to require employees to submit to alcohol or drug screening, as part of an otherwise regularly required physical examination, or based upon reasonable suspicion of alcohol/drug use;
 - B. Have the unilateral authority to establish and change work schedules, to transfer employees, to lay off employees, and to temporarily or permanently reduce the work force.

3.3 If the Mayor determines, in his sole discretion, that civil emergency conditions exist, including but not limited to riots, civil disorders, hurricane conditions or other emergency conditions, the provisions of this Agreement may be suspended by the Employer for the duration of the declared emergency; provided, however, that wage rates and monetary fringe benefits shall not be suspended.

ARTICLE 4 EMPLOYEE DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURES

- 4.1 A copy of the department Standard Operating Procedures and General Orders will be made available electronically online via the City Intranet, e-mail or a similar type program. Officers shall acknowledge receipt of any and all updates and shall be responsible thereafter for maintaining updates. The PBA shall be provided a copy of all policies that affect the unit members and, in addition, if feasible the PBA shall be furnished any proposed changes, additions, or deletions to the policies that impact wages, hours, and other terms and conditions of unit members' employment. The notification(s) shall give the PBA the opportunity to comment on the changes and, in its opinion, notify the City that the proposed changes have an impact on wages, hours, and other terms and conditions by the PBA shall require the parties to meet to resolve any issues pursuant to FSS 447.
- 4.2 As used in this agreement the term probable cause shall mean: a reasonable ground to suspect that a unit member has committed a particular violation or offense.
- 4.3 Prior to commencement of an investigative interview against a unit member, the unit member shall be provided with a copy of a written statement of the charge(s) which shall identify the person(s) upon whose statement the charge(s) is/are dependent. The Unit member may also review the complaint and all written statements made by the complainant and witnesses immediately prior to the beginning of the investigative interview.
- 4.4 No permanent employee shall be disciplined or discharged without just cause. Discharge of probationary police officers shall not be subject to the grievance/arbitration procedure until they have successfully completed the probationary period. Probationary employees who are terminated during this period shall have a right to have a Union representative present during any termination meeting. Prior to the meeting imposing discipline in such cases, the officer shall be relieved of duty and departmental weapons will be surrendered.

- 4.5 Whenever an employee is under investigation and subject to interrogation by the Police Department for any reason potentially leading to disciplinary action, demotion, or dismissal, such investigation shall be conducted under the following conditions in addition to the most current version of F.S.S. 112.532 (common name Police Officer Bill of Rights) as enacted by the Florida Legislature:
 - A. The interrogation shall be conducted at a reasonable hour; preferably at a time when the employee is on duty, unless the seriousness of the investigation warrants that immediate action is required or agreed upon between the parties. The Edgewood Police Department shall make every effort to complete the investigation within 45 days. If the investigation is not completed in 45 days, management shall provide a letter of explanation to the unit member under investigation as to the reason(s) for the delay and the expected time that the investigation will be completed.
 - B. The interrogation shall take place either at the office of the investigating officer or in a City of Edgewood building, which shall be designated by the investigating officer or agency.
 - C. The employee under investigation shall be informed of the rank, name, and command of the person in charge of the investigation, the interrogating officer, and all persons present during the interrogation. All questions directed to the employee under interrogation shall be asked by and through one interrogator at any given time.
 - D. The employee under investigation shall be informed of the nature of the investigation prior to any interrogation, and he shall be informed of the names of all known complaining parties prior to giving a statement to the investigator.
 - E. Interrogating sessions shall be for reasonable periods and shall be timed to allow for such personal necessities and rest periods as are reasonably necessary.

- F. The employee under interrogation shall not be subjected to offensive language or be threatened with transfer, dismissal, or disciplinary action. The employee can be charged with insubordination if they refuse to answer a question. No promise or reward shall be made as an inducement to answer any questions.
- G. The formal interrogation of a bargaining unit member, including all recess periods, shall be recorded on audio tape, or otherwise preserved in such a manner as to allow a transcript to be prepared, and there shall be no unrecorded questions or statements. Upon the request of the interrogated bargaining unit member, a copy of any such recording of the interrogation session must be made available to the interrogated bargaining unit member no later than 72 hours, excluding holidays and weekends, following said interrogation.
- H. If the employee under interrogation is under arrest, or is likely to be placed under arrest as a result of the interrogation, he shall be completely informed of all his rights prior to the commencement of the interrogation.
- I. At the request of any employee under investigation, he shall have the right to be represented by counsel or any other representative of his choice, who shall be present during any interrogation whenever the interrogation relates to potential discipline and/or to the officer's continued fitness for law enforcement service. The employee will answer all questions truthfully and may be granted reasonable periods of private consultation with their chosen representative. For the purpose of initial training, two (2) Union representatives will be permitted to be present during an interrogation.
- J. When such representative or counsel is not immediately available, the interrogation shall not be postponed for more than seventy-two (72) hours, excluding contractual holidays.

During the interview, counsel or representatives may not advise the employee as to how questions should be answered. The counsel or representative may discuss the incident or the interview with the employee during breaks. Moreover, at the end of the interview, the employee and his counsel or representative will be allowed to meet privately for a reasonable period. Thereafter, the employee will be allowed to make any final comments regarding the subject of the inquiry. Any such comments will be tape recorded, and if the comments raise additional questions in the mind of the investigator, the investigator may ask follow-up questions. Upon the conclusion of any disciplinary investigation with a finding of no probable cause, to proceed with disciplinary action against an employee, or with a finding of probable cause, the employee shall upon request, be provided at no cost with a copy of the disciplinary investigation and disciplinary recommendations.

- K. No dismissal, demotion, transfer, reassignment, or other personnel action which might result in loss of pay or benefits or which might otherwise be considered a punitive measure shall be taken against any employee unless such employee is notified of the action and the reason or reasons and given a post determination hearing (PDH) prior to the effective date of such action.
- L. No employee shall be discharged, disciplined, demoted; denied promotion, transferred, or reassigned, or otherwise discriminated against in regard to his employment or appointment, or be threatened with any such treatment, by reason of his exercise of the rights granted by this Agreement.

M. All complaints received by the City which establishprobable cause against a unit member shall be given a tracking number and shall include, at the minimum: the name of the person receiving the complaint, the date of the complaint, the nature of the complaint and who the complaint is assigned to for investigation. A complaint filed against an employee and all information obtained pursuant to the investigation of the complaint shall be confidential and exempt from the provisions of F.S.S.119.07(1) until the investigation

ceases to be active, or until the Chief of Police or his designee provides written notice to the officer who is the subject of the complaint, either personally or by mail, that the Department has either:

- 1. Concluded the investigation with a finding not to proceed with disciplinary action or to file charges; or
- 2. Concluded the investigation with a finding to proceed with disciplinary action or to file charges:
- N. The officer who is the subject of the complaint and his legal counsel or representative may review privately the complaint and all statements regardless of form made by the complainant and witnesses immediately prior to the beginning of the investigative interview. If a witness to a complaint is incarcerated in a correctional facility and may be under the supervision of, or have contact with, the officer under investigation, only the names and written statements of the complainant and non-incarcerated witnesses may be reviewed by the officer under investigation; immediately prior to the beginning of the investigative interview.
- O. A breathalyzer test may be administered to any employee who is suspected of being intoxicated while in an on-duty status. If a traffic related offense is committed in an on-duty status or involving the operation of a City owned vehicle, an employee may be ordered to submit to any test designed to determine intoxication or the presence of alcohol or a controlled substance in the body. Furthermore, an employee may be subjected to a polygraph examination or voice stress analysis designed to determine the truthfulness of his response if any appropriate court determines this to be lawful, or upon mutual consent of the parties. Since employees have the right to refuse to submit to a polygraph test, no reference will be made in any document/proceeding concerning the employee's refusal. Polygraph examination or voice stress analysis information shall not be used for disciplinary purposes without corroborating evidence. Only relevant

questions to the issue under investigation will be asked. Reports of such tests and/or examinations will be included in the investigative files.

P. Neither the City nor its appointed officers or employees, nor the Union or unit members will, at any time, make public statements regarding disciplinary proceedings in progress against an employee.

An employee may be relieved of duty for investigation of alleged violation(s) or may be reassigned, including reassignment to the employee's home, during the pendency of the investigation. If so relieved the employee shall respond to all phone calls and be able to arrive at the police department building within forty five (45) minutes, during business hours (8 a.m. to 5 p.m.), Monday through Friday. The employee shall remain on full salary until such time he is recalled and/or disciplinary action is served.

Q. An employee under investigation or having pending felony charges or charges of a designated misdemeanor under Section 943.13 may be relieved of duty or may be relieved of police powers and/or be reassigned to reasonable alternative departmental duty during the pendency of the disciplinary process. The relief from duty for pending criminal charges shall be without pay.

An employee who is arrested or charged with a felony or designated misdemeanor under Section 943.13, Florida Statutes, who is not terminated, may be reassigned to reasonable alternative departmental duty or be relieved of duty without pay. The employee shall be required to remain in a relieved without pay status until a final court disposition is rendered. Said employee may use any accrued personal leave or compensatory time during this period.

An employee who is convicted of a felony or designated misdemeanor, under Section 943.13, Florida Statues shall be terminated and shall not be entitled to any back pay or benefits for any period of relief of duty pursuant to this section. Any employee relieved of duty pursuant to this section who is convicted or pleads guilty or nolo contendere to a lesser offense, or who otherwise plea bargains his case, and is therefore not convicted, nor has pled guilty or nolo contendere to a felony or designated misdemeanor, under Section 943.13, Florida Statutes, may be fully restored to duty, but may not be entitled to any back pay or benefits for any period of relief of duty pursuant to this section.

Any employee relieved of duty pursuant to this section who is completely acquitted of all charges (or has all charges dropped) related to the felony or designated misdemeanor under Section 943.13, Florida Statutes, shall be fully restored to duty with all back pay and benefits for the period of relief from duty; except for such discipline imposed against the employee in accordance with this Article.

- R. The findings of internal affairs investigations shall be labeled "sustained" (guilty as charged), "unfounded" (not guilty), "not sustained" (without merit) or "exonerated" (act was legal). No other terminology may be used.
- S. Only "Sustained" findings will be inserted in an employee's personnel file. Said findings shall be removed after one (1) year from the employee's Personnel File and placed in the Internal Affairs disciplinary file which will be retained in accordance with Florida State Statutes or as otherwise legally provided by law. Files shall include computer records, whether on disks or on hard drives. For the purposes of recommending discipline for a sustained violation, the employee's supervisor(s) shall only receive a printout of the employee's past sustained unpurged violations.
- T. An employee may be terminated for refusing to submit to an examination by any device or scientific technique designed to test for intoxication or presence of controlled substance at any time.

- Such examinations shall only be required based upon competent evidence, and/or sworn statements, and/or physical observations establishing reasonable suspicion.
- Such examinations may be requested by a Sergeant and if approved by the Chief of Police, may be ordered by a Sergeant or higher.
- The initial screening for controlled substances shall be by urinalysis. If this screen reflects positive, such further tests shall only be performed by GCMS or equivalent qualitative and quantitative methods.
- 4. The examination shall not be postponed due to the employee's counsel or representative's availability.
- U. The charges "conduct unbecoming an officer," "incompetence," and "carelessness," must contain the specific details of the charged conduct.

4.6 A. Violations of Regulations:

In that Regulations are standards of conduct, members and employees will be held accountable for violations of regulations. Initiation of investigations of alleged violations of policies or regulations will be documented in the form of an Initial Notice of Inquiry (I.N.O.I.), and be based on probable cause.

B. Violations of Other Written Directives:

In that General Orders, Policy and Procedures, Supervisory Directives and Special Orders are work rules, violations of these Directives will be documented in the employee's supervisory notebook.

C. Types of Discipline:

For one (1) violation, there will be one (1) type of discipline. The types of discipline shall be as follows:

- 1. Oral Reprimand
- 2. Written Reprimand
- 3. Suspension Without Pay:

With the Chief's approval, an employee may forfeit accrued personal leave in lieu of a suspension without pay provided that no indebtedness to the City occurs.

- 4. Demotion
- 5. Termination
- D. Progressive Discipline:

Discipline will be consistent and progressive for similar or substantially similar violations. An employee's prior discipline history and the seriousness of the offense will be important factors considered in determining discipline. Nothing herein prevents discipline or discharge with the first occurrence depending on the nature of the offense.

E. Recommendations for Discipline:

Recommendations as to the appropriate discipline will be requested from the employee's chain of command.

- 4.7 The disciplines of oral reprimand, written reprimand, and termination shall be invoked immediately. All other disciplines shall be invoked at the conclusion of the grievance procedure (excluding arbitration).
- 4.8 Any employee who is summoned before a departmental investigator or internal affairs during his off-duty hours will be compensated at the appropriately established rate for those hours actually utilized in attendance.
- 4.9 All employees have the right to inspect and make notes of their individual public records during normal administrative office hours, and no public records will be denied for inspection by the Employer.
- 4.10 Discipline and discharge shall only be grieved through the Grievance Procedure, as outlined in Article 24 and culminating in Article 25 Arbitration.

ARTICLE 5 SAFETY AND HEALTH

- 5.1 The City and the Union will cooperate in the continuing objective of eliminating accidents and health hazards. The City shall provide a safe working environment.
- 5.2 Employees covered by this Agreement shall not be required to use a vehicle or piece of equipment reasonably deemed unsafe. Whenever a unit member determines that a vehicle or other equipment is unsafe and, therefore, unfit for service because it is a hazard to him or to the public, or both, he shall immediately place the vehicle or piece of equipment out of service and inform his supervisor. The unsafe vehicle or other equipment shall not be used until it has been inspected and determined safe.
- 5.3 If the unsafe equipment is a vehicle and the nature of the unsafe condition is such that it should not be driven, the vehicle may be dead lined at the location where it is deemed unsafe. In no case will police vehicles or equipment be left unattended at a place other than the Police Department or repair facility. Additionally, if the nature of the unsafe condition is such that the vehicle can be driven to a place of repair by the employee without hazard to himself or the public, he shall do so. The employee's supervisor will be notified prior to any action. The supervisor will contact the Chief of Police or his Designee who will make final determination as to what action will be taken.
- 5.4 Officers unassisted will not be required to transport persons detained in a vehicle not equipped with a cage, except in an emergency, and then the transporting officer will be assisted by another officer.
- 5.5 Upon request, an employee shall be issued four (4) boxes, in any combination the officer chooses, to include 50 rounds per box) for 45 caliber ammunition, or 20 rounds per box for AR-15 ammunition, or 5 rounds (00 buck or slugs) per box for shotgun, each annual per quarter for firearms practice on an employee's own time.

5.6 Domestic animals may be transported in a patrol vehicle when the animal control officer is not available and transport is necessary for the health and safety of the animal or the citizenry.

ARTICLE 6 RESIDENCY REQUIREMENTS

6.1 All bargaining unit members must reside within a thirty mile radius of City limits.

Members must be able to respond to their regular work assignment location within sixty (60) minutes when in an active on-call/recall status.

ARTICLE 7 BULLETIN BOARDS

- 7.1 The Union will be allocated a reasonable location within the Police Department for a bulletin board for posting of Union material.
- 7.2 Such bulletin board space is designated for the Union for the purpose of posting Union business and information such as: notices of Union meetings, elections, and recreational and social activities.
- 7.3 The Union shall not post any materials which are obscene or defamatory, which impair the operations of the department or which may reflect badly on the City of Edgewood, its elected officials, appointed officials or employees.

ARTICLE 8 SENIORITY, LAYOFF AND RECALL

8.1 Agency Seniority, for police officers, shall be determined by total calculated length of continuous full-time law enforcement service with the Edgewood Police Department. Employees with the same date of hire shall be assigned to the seniority list in order of rank. Employees with the same date of hire and same rank shall be assigned to the seniority list by alphabetical listing of their last name.

Rank Seniority, for supervisors, shall be determined by the amount of continuous fulltime sworn law enforcement service with the Edgewood Police Department in rank. Each rank is independent of the other and upon promotion/demotion, rank seniority shall commence on the effective date of the assigned current rank.

- 8.2 On an annual basis, the City shall provide such copies of the personnel list roster as the Union shall request. The roster shall contain names, job title and seniority date of all bargaining unit members.
- 8.3 An employee who is terminated, or is permanently laid off and has not been recalled for six (6) months, or who fails to report for work within ten (10) days of receipt of notice of recall, or return to work within three (3) days after a leave of absence, or fails to report to work for three (3) consecutive work days without approved leave, shall lose his seniority, rank seniority, and failure to respond as above shall be considered an abandonment of his position by the employee.
- 8.4 In the event personnel reduction is necessary, employees shall be selected for layoff in accordance with the following procedures:
 - A. The first employees to be laid off shall be probationary employees in the order of least seniority to most seniority provided all employees not laid off possess the necessary basic skills and abilities to perform the job which they are filling.

- B. The next employees to be laid off shall be permanent employees in the order of least seniority to most seniority provided all employees not laid off possess the necessary basic skills and abilities to perform the job for which they are filling.
- C. Any employee who is to be laid off shall be compensated in full for all accrued wages, accrued compensatory time, and accrued personal leave benefits.
- D. Any employee who is laid off, who had advanced to his present classification from a lower classification in which he held non-probationary appointment, shall be given the opportunity to displace a less senior employee in the lower classification at the pay rate of that lower classification in the same department.
- E. In the event the Police Chief determines it necessary to reduce the number of positions within a certain classification, determination of which bargaining unit member will be bumped down to a lower classification shall be based on rank seniority. In the case of an employee bumping down to a lower classification, the Chief may protect a position in that classification irrespective of seniority.
- 8.5 Employees on layoff status with seniority rights have preference to recall. In the event an employee is to be recalled, the employer shall notify him by registered mail not less than ten (10) days prior to the date he is to report for duty. Failure of an employee to keep the employer informed of his current address shall relieve the employer of all responsibility with regard to the notification time frame. An employee who fails to report for duty as scheduled on recall from a layoff shall be considered to have voluntarily terminated his employment unless such employee has timely notified the Employer in writing, and is excused in writing from duty by the Police Chief. Employees recalled after layoff shall be reinstated at their last position prior to the layoff if this position is still available and retain their seniority if the layoff does not exceed six months in length.
- 8.6 Employees will have a one (1) year initial probationary period that starts on the date of employment. Probationary employees who have not successfully completed their

probationary period may be terminated without recourse to the grievance or arbitration article(s) herein. On satisfactory completion of his probationary period, the newly hired employee's seniority dates from his first day of services.

ARTICLE 9 WAGES

- 9.1 The position of Police Officer shall have a minimum base starting salary of \$20,60 hourly (\$45,000 annually) to a maximum of \$36.63 hourly (\$80,000 annually). The position of Police Sergeant (promotion after October 1, 2020), shall have a minimum salary of \$27.47 hourly (\$60,000 annually to a maximum of \$38.92 hourly (\$85,000 annually). Members promoted to the rank of Police Sergeant shall have their salary increased in accordance with Section 22.6.
- 9.2 Effective October 1, 2020, all bargaining unit members shall receive a general wage increase (GWI) of four percent (4%) to their base salary.
- 9.3 Effective October 1, 2022, all bargaining unit members shall receive a GWI of three percent (3%) to their base salary. Either party to this Agreement may request to reopen this subsection by submitting a written request by April 1 prior to the budget year in which the GWI will be applied.
- 9.4 Effective October 1, 2022, all bargaining unit members shall receive a GWI of three percent (3%) to their base salary. Either party to this Agreement may request to reopen this subsection by submitting a written request by April 1 prior to the budget year in which the GWI will be applied.

Should any bargaining unit member's salary, as a result of the general wage increases (GWI) stipulated in the Article, exceed the maximum range set in 9.1, the unit member shall be given the difference of the maximum range and the percentage increase as a one-time lump sum bonus check effective October 1 of each year of this Agreement. Said payment shall be deemed as pensionable income.

9.5 Employees who are required to work in a higher classification, due to a supervisor's absence shall be paid at ten (10) percent more than their hourly rate of pay for each hour worked after an accumulative eighty-four (84) hours of such work.

9.6 An annual longevity payment based on years of total calculated length of continuous law enforcement service shall be paid to current bargaining unit employees. A separate check for the Longevity pay shall be issued annually by the first Thursday of November. The following schedule of payment will be used:

Longevity Payment Schedule:

| Years of Service: | Amount: |
|--------------------------------|-----------|
| 2 to less than 3 years | \$200.00 |
| 3 years to less than 5 years | \$400.00 |
| 5 years to less than 7 years | \$800.00 |
| 7 years to less than 9 years | \$1000.00 |
| 9 years to less than 11 years | \$1200.00 |
| 11 years to less than 13 years | \$1400.00 |
| 13 years to less than 15 years | \$1600.00 |
| 15 years to less than 17 years | \$1800.00 |
| 17 years to less than 19 years | \$2000.00 |
| 19 years to less than 21 years | \$2200.00 |
| 21 years to less than 23 years | \$2400.00 |
| 23 years to less than 25 years | \$2600.00 |
| More than 25 years | \$3000.00 |
| | |

- 9.7 Members may receive specialty pay for additional responsibilities that are assigned. This shall include Field training Officer, Crisis Intervention Officer, Accreditation Manager, Certified Training Officer, and any other unit the Chief deems specialized. Members shall receive \$100 per year for each specialty up to \$300 per year. The officer must be in good standing and meet all requirements set forth in the Policy and Procedures.
- 9.8 Supervisors and CID may, at the discretion of the Chief, be scheduled to work 80 hours per pay period. Those assigned these positions shall be paid 84 hours per pay period due

to administrative responsibilities that are part of their positions. These hours are not considered stand-by or on-call but the hours are for administrative purposes only and shall not be considered toward over-time calculations.

9.9 Shift Differential – Unit members who are scheduled on the Midnight Shift (1800 hours to 0600 hours)_shall be compensated an additional \$.50 per hour.

9.10 Educational Incentive Pay

Educational incentive monies are paid to bargaining unit members who have obtained a bachelor's degree, associate degree or equivalent from a college or university recognized by FDLE. Training incentive monies are also paid to all full-time bargaining unit members who complete Commission-approved training units. Commission-approved training units include advanced and career development courses, as well as special programs which have received Commission approval. Educational incentives shall be capped at \$130.00 per member.

ARTICLE 10 WORK WEEK AND WORK SHIFT

10.1 The standard payroll work week shall begin at 0000 hours Sunday and end at 2400 hours Saturday, which period shall be referred to as the standard work week.

The City agrees employees covered by this Agreement shall be scheduled to eighty-four (84) hours in a two-week pay period.

Subject to operational needs, the City shall make all reasonable efforts to schedule employees to two (2) consecutive days off during each work week.

10.2 Each employee shall be entitled to a paid meal period of thirty (30) minutes during his regular work shift, work load permitting.

Employees shall be allowed a fifteen (15) minute rest period during the first half of the work shift and fifteen (15) minutes during the second half of the work shift, work load permitting.

- 10.3 For the purposes of this Agreement, a shift means the time during which an employee is scheduled on duty. A regular work day shall be eight (8) hours, ten (10) hours or twelve (12) hours as determined by the Chief of Police.
- 10.4 No employee shall be required to work a split shift. All employee(s) will be entitled to at least eight (8) hours off-duty time prior to returning to work subject to operational needs.
- 10.5 Employees covered by this Agreement shall be considered on duty for those hours actually worked under the supervision of the department and while performing police functions during off-duty time by approval of the Chief of Police.
- 10.6 It is understood that daylight savings time change will cause the time clocks to be advanced one (1) hour during the spring of each year. The City agrees that employees

working during the actual time period when the clocks are advanced will be paid as time worked for the one (1) hour loss from the standard work shift.

- 10.7 Except as provided in this Agreement or in operational emergencies, an employee will not be required to adjust his scheduled hours, shift or days off from those scheduled with less than three (3) calendar days advance notice.
- 10.8 The City agrees to make every reasonable effort to have bargaining unit members' biweekly payroll checks available for pickup and/or direct deposit by 1700 hours on the first Wednesday following the close of the payroll period unless the close of the payroll period or the first Wednesday following the close of the payroll period fall on a legal holiday, in which case, the City agrees to make every reasonable effort to have bargaining unit members' bi-weekly payroll checks available for pickup by 1700 hours on the first Thursday following the close of the payroll period.

ARTICLE 11 OVERTIME

- 11.1 Employees shall be required to work overtime when ordered overtime shall be scheduled in accordance with departmental Standard Operating Procedures and administered in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement.
- 11.2 For the purpose of overtime computation, holidays, personal leave, bereavement leave, voting time, blood donor time, jury duty, on-call status, court standby time, standby time, compensatory leave, off duty attendance at grievance hearings requested by the Grievant or the Union, and annual military leave from duty on active pay status, shall not be construed as time worked. Any time spent for therapy or treatment for an on-the-job injury or illness, which occurs during an employee's regular shift, shall be considered as time worked for overtime purposes.
- 11.3 All hours actually worked in excess of eighty-four (84) hours during a fourteen (14) day work cycle shall be paid at the rate of time and one-half (1 1/2) of their base hourly wage or time and one-half (1 1/2) compensatory time at the discretion of the unit member.
- 11.4 Compensatory time earned shall be documented and shall be used at the convenience of the unit member subject to the approval of the department. In the first pay period in September of each year, the City shall pay to bargaining unit members the value of all accrued compensatory time in excess of forty (40) hours.

ARTICLE 12 EXTRA TIME PROVISIONS

12.1 Call Back Time:

A. An employee called back to work after regular working hours shall be paid for actual hours worked. However, the employee shall receive a minimum equivalent to two (2) hours of straight time pay or straight compensatory time. The decision of whether an employee receives straight time pay of straight compensatory time shall be made by the unit member.

An employee recalled during a period for which he has already received the two hours minimum call back equivalent shall be paid for only additional time actually worked beyond that minimum.

Employees in an on-call status shall start their call back status period when the employee enters his vehicle and checks "in-service" on the radio. The call back period will end upon direct return to the residence and the employee checks "out of service" via radio. Employees will not be compensated for being placed in an on-call status while not working.

- B. When an employee is called back to return departmental property or to correct or resubmit improperly completed reports, correspondence or legal processes, the minimum provision of Section A of this article will not apply, and the employee will be compensated only for those hours actually worked.
- 12.2 Standby Duty:
 - A. Standby duty on-call time is defined as the period in which the employee is ordered by the Police Chief, or his designee, to be readily accessible by telephone and not performing actual work, but in readiness to perform actual work when the need arises. Standby duty shall not include an employee who, due to the job

description of the position, may be called back outside of his normally schedule work hours unless such employee is required to be available for and respond within one hour to such calls by order of the Police Chief or a superior officer.

- B. Such standby time, when the employee is not actually working, is not considered time worked, but is compensated at the rate of two-tenths (2/10) hour for each hour of standby duty. This time may be paid or taken in compensatory time at the employee's option.
- 12.3 Employees will receive compensation for training at their appropriate rate of pay when required by the department to attend training during off-duty hours. As conditions of employment, officers must periodically train or be retrained or qualify in baton or ASP, firearms qualification, radar certification or re-certification, chemical tests for intoxication, refresher and initial training, and such other remedial training as required and if such training occurs during off-duty hours it shall be compensable as time worked. This provision shall not apply to training or attendance at any police training programs that may be required to obtain or retain certification for employment or qualify for any additional compensation available by law, unless the member is ordered to attend.
- 12.4 An employee ordered to attend any previously scheduled meeting that occurs outside of regular working hours shall be compensated for actual hours worked. However, the employee shall receive a minimum equivalent to two (2) hours of straight pay or straight compensatory time at the employee's option. The two (2) hour minimum shall not apply when the meeting is scheduled to begin within one (1) hour of the start or end of employee's shift. In such case the employee's shift will be extended and the employee paid for actual time worked.

ARTICLE 13 LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

- 13.1 Off-duty officers responding to legal processes resulting from performance of duties will, when actually required to appear to testify in court or in response to said legal process, while in an off-duty status, and not within one (1) hour of the end or start of a scheduled work shift, shall be paid a minimum of three (3) hours straight time pay or compensatory time at the discretion of the unit member. Employees attending court within one (1) hour of the end or start of a scheduled work shift, shall receive a one (1) hour minimum payment. However, time spent beyond the actual one (1) hours will be calculated in quarter (.25) of hours for these hours or portions thereof actually present at the legal proceedings, as verified by a court official or the State Attorney's office. In addition, unit members shall receive a quarter (.25) hour of pay for all subpoenas received that require the member to stand-by for a two (2) week trial period. Unit members shall notify the City when placed on a trial notice per subpoena.
- 13.2 Employees shall be required to endorse over to the City any subpoena fees legally due them for court appearances on duty.
- 13.3 Employees must sign and place the actual time on the appearing certification form or other appropriate form, for documentary purposes.
- 13.4 Upon providing proof of payment to the city, employees shall be reimbursed by the city for any parking expenses incurred during work-related activities.

ARTICLE 14 PERSONAL LEAVE

14.1 Personal Leave is paid time off granted to an employee for purposes of taking planned vacations, dealing with personal business, and recovering from illness or injury.

Personal Leave may also be requested to attend to an incapacitated member of the employee's immediate family. It may also be used to supplement Workers' Compensation benefits.

Accrued Personal Leave is personal leave earned that is unused at any given time. It shall begin to accrue from the date of appointment as a Probationary Police Officer with the Edgewood Police Department. An employee shall not accrue Personal Leave during a pay period if in a non-pay status during the entire pay period (two (2) week posting cycle). Personal Leave shall not be authorized or taken unless it has been accrued by the employee.

An employee shall accrue Personal Leave as follows:

| From employment to third anniversary: | 5 hours per pay period |
|---|-------------------------|
| Over three (3) years up to seventh anniversary: | 7 hours per pay period |
| Over seven (7) years up to twelfth anniversary: | 9 hours per pay period |
| Over twelve (12) years up to twentieth anniversary: | 10 hours per pay period |
| Over twenty years | 12 hours per pay period |

In addition to the above, members with over ten years of consecutive service within the department shall receive an additional personal leave day which shall accrue on October 1 of each year.

14.2 Bargaining unit members may use Personal Leave to be scheduled at their option, subject to prior approval of the Chief of Police or his designee. Scheduled leave approval or

disapproval must be communicated to the employee within three (3) business days from date of submission.

- 14.3 Employees shall continue to accrue Personal Leave while in any authorized paid leave status. Employees on suspension without pay shall not accrue Personal Leave during the period of suspension.
- 14.4 The maximum number of Personal Leave hours employees may accrue at any one time is 540.
- 14.5 Employees leaving the employment of the City shall be paid for all accrued, but unused Personal Leave, up to a maximum of 280 hours, and Comp Time. Such payment shall be at the employee's current rate of pay.
- 14.6 If the City proposes to cancel a bargaining unit members' approved scheduled Personal Leave (for annual personal leave purposes) and the member will suffer an economic loss, the City shall reimburse the member and family for any loss for commercial travel, lodging expenses, entertainment expenses to include but not limited to tickets, and other non-refundable, prearranged expense. The member must:
 - A. Notify the City at the time of cancellation notification that an economic loss will occur;
 - B. Make all reasonable attempts to recover expenses; and
 - C. Provide the City with documentation of the economic loss.
- 14.7 Personal Leave may not be used in less than one-quarter (1/4) hour increments.

- 14.8 When an employee dies while employed by the Department, his estate shall receive the cash equivalent of the value of all Personal Leave/Compensatory Time accrued by the employee at the time of death.
- 14.9 Payment of any accrued Personal Leave time shall be subject to repayment of any outstanding indebtedness owed to the City.
- 14.10 An employee shall not lose any Personal Leave accrued if transferred to another position.

ARTICLE 15 JOB-CONNECTED DISABILITY

15.1 Employees shall be entitled to all rights afforded under the Florida Workers' Compensation Law. The City shall provide members up to two (2) weeks paid leave for an injury received on duty that prevents the members from performing their job functions. Said compensation shall only be provided to the extent such injury is not otherwise covered by Workers' Compensation insurance. Furthermore, while on a job connected disability leave, employees shall be entitled to all benefits as described by City Policy and/or EPD Policies and Procedures.

ARTICLE 16 PUBLICATION OF THE AGREEMENT

16.1 The parties agree to execute duplicate originals of each Article, and the Union will undertake the responsibility of printing the necessary number of copies of this Agreement for the employee distribution.

ARTICLE 17 LEAVES OF ABSENCE

- 17.1 Upon recommendation of the Police Chief, leaves of absence without pay, including those for the purpose of entering upon a course of training or study calculated to improve the quality of service, may be granted. No benefits accrue during the period of the leave, except as required by law.
- 17.2 All applications for leaves of absences without pay must be approved by the Chief of Police.
- 17.3 An employee granted a leave of absence, upon the termination and/or expiration of the leave, will normally return to the same job classification and rate of pay currently in effect for that classification.
- 17.4 Military leave shall be granted in accordance with Florida and Federal law.
- 17.5 Except in an actual or declared emergency recall to duty, the employee if possible shall give thirty (30) days' notice to his supervisor that his Reserve Training duty will occur on the specific dates.
- 17.6 For annual "two week training" a copy of the employee's military orders for the period of Military Leave shall be attached to the department payroll. Employees on Military Leave shall be shown on payroll as "ML" (Military Leave).
- 17.7 Such leaves shall not exceed twelve (12) months. If the Chief of Police determines that an operational emergency exists which requires the cancellation of a leave of absence, the employee shall be given ten (10) calendar days' notice of the City's intent to cancel the leave. The employee may elect to return to work at any time during this ten (10) day period; however, if he should fail to return to work or obtain an extension of time to return, the employee will not be assured that a vacancy exists upon his return from leave and may be considered as having abandoned his position and will be terminated.

ARTICLE 18 INSURANCE

- 18.1 The City shall provide medical insurance benefits currently established for bargaining unit employees at no cost to the employee for the duration of this Agreement.
- 18.2 For the duration of this Agreement, dependent coverage benefits will be made available to employees at the employees' expense, and the City will defray the cost for dependent coverage at the minimum amount of fifty (50) percent (or higher) per month. The City shall provide a minimum of \$2000.00 or more on a direct benefits card to all employees of the Edgewood Police Department covered by the City provided health insurance.
- 18.3 The City shall provide life insurance for sworn officers in the bargaining unit as same is required by law.
- 18.4 The City shall ensure three members of the bargaining unit continued membership on the City Employee Benefit Advisory Committee. One member shall collectively represent those needing "family plan" coverage, another member shall collectively represent those needing "employee only" coverage, and the third member being the In-house PBA elected member in order to ensure various views of usage are represented. Each member's input and vote shall receive equilateral consideration in determining any final decision.
- 18.5 The city shall provide the PBA with a 30 days' notice of intent to change health care plans prior to the yearly review.
- 18.6 Group Insurance: participation by retired employees pursuant to FSS. 112.0801 (1) (2) Unit members who have retired from the City, and the unit member's eligible dependents shall be offered the same health and hospitalization insurance coverage as is offered to active employees at a premium cost of no more than the premium cost applicable to active employees. The retiree shall have the option of continuing to participate in the group insurance plan.

ARTICLE 19 PENSION

- 19.1 The City of Edgewood agrees to maintain participation for current bargaining unit members' retirement plan within the Florida Retirement System. If in the future the City considers changes to the type of retirement plan to be offered to any new, incoming bargaining unit members (officers), the parties shall reopen this Article 19 for further negotiations.
- 19.2 Upon retiring with twenty-five (25) or more years of service, or retiring due to a medical retirement, a unit member shall be provided his duty weapon and a retirement badge.

ARTICLE 20 EDUCATIONAL INCENTIVE

- 20.1 Employees are encouraged to attend institutions of higher learning. Employees who are attending college may be allowed to attend college courses as approved by the Chief of Police while in an on-duty status by using personal leave and/or compensatory time, workload permitting, subject to the approval of the Chief.
- 20.2 The City will reimburse members in the amount of 75% of the cost of tuition, books, and fees with three (3) or more years of service. Members must be in good standing and attending college courses that are relevant to their position in an accredited degree seeking program as approved by the Chief. The course must be completed with a final passing grade of a "CB" or better. Payments shall be subject to available budgeted funding and a maximum of \$2500.00 per member will be reimbursed; provided, however, if there are additional budgeted funds available in the last month of the fiscal year, such additional funds may be used by the City to reimburse members' expenses incurred beyond \$2,500.00.

Reimbursement for educational expenses will be made within fourteen (14) business days after receipt of the request by the City Clerk.

ARTICLE 21 EQUIPMENT ISSUE AND CLOTHING ALLOWANCE

- 21.1 The following articles will be issued by the City to each sworn employee:
 - i. 1 Protective Ballistic Vest (Bargaining unit members' choice of level 2A, 2, or 3A).
 All protective Ballistic Vests will included two vest carriers and one (1) Paraclete trauma plates (front) rated to stop 7.62 rifle ammo Replaced every Five (5) Years
 - ii. 1 Agency Approved Firearm w/three magazines (Glock 21) Replaced as needed
- iii. 1 Duty Holster Light Bearing (Level 3 Retention) Replaced as needed
- iv. 1 AR15 (mil-spec) with carrying case Replaced as needed
- v. 1 Agency Approved Taser (Axon ECW) Replaced as needed
- vi. 2 Taser Cartridges (Axon) Replaced as needed
- vii. 1 Agency Approved Body Camera (Axon) Replaced as needed
- viii. 1 MDS Computer and Charger Replaced as needed
- ix. 5 Duty Pants Replaced yearly
- x. 5 Duty Short Sleeve Shirts Replaced Yearly
- xi. 2 Duty Long Sleeve Shirts Replaced Yearly
- xii. 1 Tie for class A uniforms Replaced as needed
- xiii. 2 BDU Pants Replaced as needed
- xiv. 2 Polo Short Sleeve Shirts with "Police" on both sleeves, badge and officer's name on the front. Replaced Yearly
- xv. 1 Duty Gun Belt -- Replaced as needed
- xvi. 1 Duty Under Belt Replaced as needed
- xvii. 5 Duty Belt Keepers Released as needed
- xviii. 1 Magazine Poach -- Replaced as needed

- xix. 1 AR-15 Magazine Holder (For Duty Belt) Released as needed
- xx. 1 -Glove pouch Replaced as needed
- xxi. 1 Chemical Agent Spray w/holder Replaced as needed
- xxii. 1 Handheld Police Radio & charger w/holder Replaced as needed
- xxiii. 1-26 inch ASP baton w/holder Replaced as needed
- xxiv. 1 -- Flashlight & charger w/holder Replaced as needed
- xxv. 1 Flashlight Cone Replaced as needed
- xxvi. 1 Tourniquet w/holder Replaced as needed
- xxvii. 1 Pair of Handcuffs w/pouch (Smith & Wesson, ASP, or Peerless) Replaced as needed
- xxviii. 1 RIPP Restraint Replaced as needed
- xxix. 1 Raincoat Officer's choice on length (long or short) Replaced as needed
- xxx. 1 jacket (Winter) Replaced as needed
- xxxi. 1 jacket (windbreaker) Replaced as needed
- xxxii. 1 Baseball Call (Edgewood Police) Replaced yearly
- xxxiii. 1 Osha Approved Traffic Safety Vest Replaced as needed
- xxxiv. 1 Police Wallet Replaced Yearly
- xxxv. 2 Police badges (uniform and wallet) Replaced as needed
- xxxvi. 2 Police Identification Cards Replaced as needed
- xxxvii. 2 Narcan with Holder
- xxxviii. 1 SIMS Training Gear (face, Throat, and Groin Protector) Replaced as needed

In addition to the above listed items the City shall provide any other equipment necessary for the officer to do their job.

- 21.2 The cost of maintenance of these articles shall be paid by the employer. The City will replace, such items when such replacement is necessary at the City's discretion; however, replacement will not be unreasonably denied.
- 21.3 Upon termination of employment, the articles will be surrendered by the employee in like condition as when issued, however reasonable wear and tear is normal and will be expected.
- 21.4 In the event an employee or leaves the employment of the department, he shall return all uniforms and safety equipment to the department before receiving his final paycheck.
- 21.5 With the approval of the Chief of Police or his designee; uniforms, equipment, and nonclothing personal items damaged beyond normal wear and tear in the performance of duty, including glasses, contacts and watches, but not jewelry or watches valued in excess of One hundred dollars (\$100.00), shall be repaired or replaced by the City. Claims will be presented in accordance with procedures set forth in current Standard Operating Procedures. Negligently damaged or lost articles shall be replaced by the employee.
- 21.6 On the first pay period of October of each year members of the bargaining unit shall be paid an annual clothing allowance of eight hundred ten dollars (\$810.00) for the cost of cleaning uniforms and purchasing footwear. The clothing allowance shall be prorated for members hired after the first pay period of October in any year and the clothing allowance shall be paid during such members' first pay period in employment. Honor Guard members shall be reimbursed for all costs of cleaning and maintenance of uniforms and equipment.

ARTICLE 22 PROMOTIONS

- 22.1 The purpose of this article is to establish a fair and impartial procedure to select qualified individuals for promotions.
- 22.2 The Department will administer a job-related examination for the rank of Police Sergeant when the Chief of Police determines an examination is needed to create an eligibility list. At least one sergeant who is a member of the bargaining unit will be selected by the Department to assist in the review of the test material.
- 22.3 The Department, not less than sixty (60) days prior to the examination shall announce the following:
 - A. The date and place of the examination and the number of test questions.
 - B. The method by which the examination's passing score will be determined.
 - C. Areas covered by the examination.
 - D. Sources from which examination questions are drawn. A Master Set of source materials will be available for review in the office of the Chief of Police.
 - E. Eligibility requirements and cut-off date for sign-up.
 - F. Reference material and sources for study purposes which will assist officers in preparing for the examination.
- 22.4 The Chief of Police will impanel a promotional board for the rank of Police Sergeant when the Chief of Police determines that a vacancy needs to be filled. The Promotional Board shall consist of the Chief of Police or a designee of his choice, two law enforcement supervisors from area agencies, and the Mayor or a City Council

Member designated by the Mayor.

The Promotional Board shall use the following scoring requirements:

- A. Promotional Board questions with a score of 0 to 100.
- B. Written examination with a score of 0 to 100.
- C. The total score will be divided by 2 for a possible average score of zero to 100 for a candidate Overall Score.
- D. If a candidate fails to meet a 75 or higher, in any scoring category, the candidate will not be considered qualified for promotion.

An Oral Review Board will submit a similar number of questions to each candidate with a possible score of 100.

Candidates obtaining a score of 75 or more shall be placed on the promotional list. Those on the list are qualified for promotion provided they are in good standing with the department and meet necessary service requirements at the time of promotion. This list shall remain in effect for a period of twenty-four months from the date of its certification by City Council.

22.5 In making promotions, the Department will select from a pool of candidates on the promotional list. The Department shall select from the top three (3) scores. The list of persons eligible for each individual promotion will be adjusted prior to each subsequent promotion. If more than one position is being filled during the same time frame, the list of eligible candidates will be revised following each selection.

22.6 Approval for Promotions:

The Chief of Police shall forward the recommendation for promotion to the Mayor of the City of Edgewood. Upon approval of the Mayor, the promotion to probationary sergeant shall then become effective. Upon promotion, the unit member shall receive a <u>ten</u> percent (10%) increase in base pay, not to exceed the maximum position salary, or the minimum sergeant salary, whichever is greater.

22.7 Probationary Status for Sergeants

Probationary Sergeants shall have a probationary status of one year. Failure to obtain an overall rating of "Acceptable" performance rating will be grounds for removal from Probationary Sergeant status and the member shall be returned to his former rank. Probationary Sergeants shall attend a "line supervision" course during the probationary period.

ARTICLE 23 VOTING

23.1 During a primary, special, or general election an employee who is registered to vote, whose hours do not allow sufficient time for voting, shall be allowed necessary time off with pay for this purpose. Where the polls are open two (2) hours before or after the regularly scheduled work period, it shall be considered sufficient time for voting.

ARTICLE 24 GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

- 24.1 Members of the bargaining unit will follow all written and verbal orders given by superior officers even if such orders are alleged to be in conflict with this Agreement. Compliance with such orders will not prejudice the right to file a grievance within the time limits contained herein.
- 24.2 A grievance is a claimed violation of a specific term of this Agreement, to include but not be limited to a means of appeal for imposed discipline or discharge.
- 24.3 No grievance will or need be entertained or processed unless prepared in writing in the manner prescribed herein, and unless filed in the manner provided herein within the time limit prescribed herein. A grievance may be filed by either a bargaining unit employee or by the Union via hand delivery, fax, or e-mail. Grievance discussions at Step One will be conducted during the aggrieved's normal duty hours. Nothing in this section shall be construed to prevent an employee from presenting, at any time, his own grievance without representation. Unit members may be represented at any step by a PBA representative.
- 24.4 Any formal grievance filed shall be in writing and shall set forth the provision or provisions or the Agreement alleged to have been violated and the facts pertaining to the alleged violation(s), the date of the violation, and the requested remedy. The grievance shall be signed by the grievant or Union representative. A grievance submitted which does not contain the above information is incomplete and shall be amended by the grievant to state the required information. The necessity of filing an amendment shall not affect the timeliness to the extent that the grievance is substantially complete.
- 24.5 Grievances will be processed in the following manner, and strictly in accordance with the following stated time limits.

Step One:

An aggrieved party shall date and present in writing the grievance to the On-Duty Supervisor or designee within five (5) working days of his knowledge of the occurrence of the action giving rise to the grievance. The On-Duty Supervisor or designee shall within five (5) working days of receipt of the written grievance conduct a meeting with the aggrieved party for the purpose of attempting to resolve the grievance. The On-Duty Supervisor or designee shall notify the aggrieved party in writing of his decision within five (5) working days following the meeting. Any grievance resulting from a disciplinary investigation by the On-Duty Supervisor or designee will start at Step Two. However in the absence of the position of On-Duty Supervisor or designee, Step One shall be skipped and the beginning/initial step shall be Step Two.

Step Two:

If the grievance is not resolved at Step 1, the aggrieved employee or Union, within five (5) working days following receipt of the On-Duty Supervisor or designee's decision in Step One, may submit the grievance to the Chief of Police who will call a special meeting to consider the grievance within ten (ten) working days of his receipt of the grievance. The grievant shall not be represented by an elected official of the City, the City Attorney, or his staff. The Chief of Police shall notify the employee and the union of his decision, in writing, within ten (10) working days following the special meeting.

Step Three:

If the grievance is not resolved at Step 2, the aggrieved employee or Union, within five (5) working days following receipt of the Police Chiefs decision in Step Two, may submit the grievance to the Mayor who will call a special meeting to consider the grievance within ten (ten) working days of his receipt of the grievance. The grievant shall not be represented by an elected official of the City, the City Attorney or his staff. The Mayor shall notify the employee and the union of his decision, in writing, within ten (10) working days following the special meeting.

- 24.6 In advancing grievances, the grievant employee(s), Union and management may call a reasonable number of witnesses to offer testimony without incurring overtime cost to the City. Either party may call witnesses as needed. Hearings shall be continued to facilitate appearance of witnesses who are department employees whose presence would otherwise conflict with department needs.
- 24.7 All disciplinary grievances will initially be filed at Step One of the grievance procedure, unless the discipline was initiated at the Chief of Police's level in which case the grievance shall start at Step Two.

All Class Action grievances will be filed at Step Two.

- 24.8 The aggrieved employee and the union representative shall be given at least two (2) work days' notice of the grievance meetings provided herein.
- 24.9 For purposes of this article and the arbitration article, "working days" refers to those days during the week that the administrative office is open, which are usually Mondays through Fridays.
- 24.10 If any grievance other than those resulting in an assessment, oral reprimand or written censure is not satisfactorily resolved by the foregoing procedure, the Union or the City may proceed to Arbitration according to Article 25.

The issues and remedy presented at Arbitration shall be limited to those set forth in the grievance filed.

24.11 Time limits defined herein may be extended by mutual written agreement between the parties.

ARTICLE 25 ARBITRATION

- 25.1 If any grievance is not resolved by the foregoing Grievance Procedure, the Union, within twenty-one (21) calendar days after the receipt of the Mayor's decision to may give to the Police Chief, by hand delivery or by registered or certified mail, a written notice of its desire to submit the matter to arbitration. Said written notice is to include a written statement of the position of the Union with respect to the arbitrable issue. The Union shall request a list of the seven (7) qualified arbitrators, from the Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service, within seven (7) calendar days from the date the notice was served on the City. The Union and the City will each strike three (3) names alternately from the list and the person remaining will be the arbitrator. The first strike shall alternate between the Union and the City The parties agree to an Expedited Arbitration Procedure in every case unless one, or both of the parties object to the Expedited Arbitration Procedure, in writing. Arbitrators will abide by the rules set forth in the FMCS Expedited Arbitration procedure. Where one or both parties have objected to the Expedited Arbitration, the process will be through the regular arbitration procedure. In the event that a transcript of a hearing before an arbitrator is prepared, the party ordering the transcript shall pay the cost thereof. In the event more than one party desires a copy of the transcript, the cost of said transcript will be paid in proportion to the number of parties requesting the transcript
- 25.2 As promptly as possible after the arbitrator has been selected, he shall conduct a hearing with representatives of the parties and consider the grievance. The decision of the arbitrator will be served upon the employee or employees aggrieved, the Employer and the Union in writing. It shall be the obligation of the arbitrator to make his best effort to rule within twenty-one (21) working days after the hearing. The expense of the arbitration, including the fee and expenses of the arbitrator, shall be paid by the losing party. Each party shall be exclusively responsible for compensating its own representatives and witnesses. In the event one party does not prevail on all issues, the

arbitrator shall apportion the respective expenses payable by the parties based upon his judgment of which party prevailed on each issue, or where the decision was split on an issue. Furthermore, the arbitrator may apportion any costs incurred by a delay or rescheduling of a hearing based upon the parties' proportionate impact on that matter.

The submission to the arbitrator shall be based on the written grievance as submitted in Steps 1, 2 and 3 of the grievance procedure, and shall include a copy of this Agreement.

- 25.3 The power and authority of the arbitrator shall be strictly limited to determination and interpretation of the express terms of this Agreement. He shall not have the authority to add to or subtract from or modify any of said terms, or to limit or impair any right that is reserved by this Agreement, by statute or otherwise, to the Employer or the Union or the employees, or to establish or change any wage or rate of pay in this Agreement. No decision of any arbitrator or of the Employer in one case shall create a basis for retroactive adjustment in any other case. The arbitrator shall have the exclusive authority to decide the arbitrability of issue(s) presented in the grievance.
- 25.4 All claims for back wages shall be limited to the amount of wages that the employee otherwise would have earned from the Employer, less any unemployment compensation received by the employee and interim earnings for those days the employee would have otherwise been scheduled to perform duties for the Employer.
- 25.5 The decision of the arbitrator is final and binding on both parties, and the grievance shall be considered permanently resolved.

ARTICLE 26 PHYSICAL EXAMINATION AND WORKERS COMPENSATION BENEFITS

- 26.1 If the City finds it necessary to refer an on-the-job injury to an outside physician, the injured employee will have the discretion of choosing said physician to the extent as the same meets with the approval of the City's workers compensation carrier, providing all reports and changes of the physician comply with workers' compensation law. No employee shall be coerced by the Employer or his representative in the selection of a physician.
- 26.2 The City and the Union agree to an employee drug screening program. The method and procedure for the drug screening shall be as encompassed in the Edgewood Police Department's General Orders. The cost of such tests shall be borne by the City.
- 26.3 No smoking or use of tobacco products will be permitted in the Edgewood Police Department building, or any other interior Edgewood Police Department work area or Department vehicle.
- 26.4 The employee shall have a personal fitness evaluation completed annually by a doctor of the employee's choice for the betterment of the employee's health. The City shall pay any co-pays or other charges incurred from their primary care physician and/or a specialist to which the employee is referred by his primary care physician above the amount covered by the employee's health insurance. Personal fitness evaluation shall include but is not limited to: EKG, stress testing (Treadmill, Thallium or other chemical/radiographic), echocardiogram testing, blood and lab testing, pulmonary function testing, vision/auditory testing, and flu/pneumonia vaccines. The City will NOT be privy to any test results nor will the physical, hearing, or vision exams be part of ANY Fitness for Duty standard. The results of the exams are strictly between the employee and the medical provider to be utilized for the betterment of the employee's health.

ARTICLE 27 GENERAL PROVISIONS

27.1 An employee may voluntarily accept and be employed in an occupation off-duty which is not in violation of Federal, State, or county law or departmental policy. Off-duty coordinator or designee shall notify the Chief of Police of any change in the officers working such off-duty employment within ten (10) days of such change.

Also, all employees who wish to work in off-duty employment must complete an off-duty work information form as supplied by the Department, detailing the off-duty employment and the employer. The form will be completed and submitted as directed thereon. Officer shall notify the Chief of Police of any change in such off-duty employment within ten (10) days of such change.

The Department reserves the right to approve or disapprove any off-duty employment. Final authority rests solely with the Chief of Police.

Employees working approved off-duty employment may be paid directly by their offduty employers.

Off-duty work when combined with the employee's normal working hours for the City (exclusive of overtime) shall not exceed seventy-two (72) hours in any one work week (Sunday 0001 hours to 2400 hours Saturday). Exception to this limitation may be requested in writing to the Chief of Police who may approve or disapprove the request.

Employees who are on light duty, leave of absence, relieved of duty, assigned to alternative duty pending criminal or internal investigation, or serving a disciplinary suspension may not work in any off-duty employment. Employees may not work off-duty employment which conflicts with any physical or mental limitations imposed upon them by medical authority. Failure to comply with this section may result in disciplinary action and/or suspension of off duty work privileges. The Department will post off-duty employment opportunities received from third parties. At the Chiefs discretion, the rates for off-duty employment may be raised above the minimum rates based on the nature, needs and working conditions of the off-duty employment.

- 27.2 The City agrees that an employee shall have the right to include in his official personnel record a written and signed refutation of any material he considers to be detrimental.
- 27.3 Employees will not be required to use their private vehicles in the performance of assigned duties.
- 27.4 Employees shall be furnished with parking facilities on City property to the extent available. Said parking facilities shall be furnished at no cost to the employee.
- 27.5 When the City is requested to provide off-duty police services, except for City sanctioned activities or operational emergencies, an employee has the right to refuse to work off-duty.
- 27.6 Police personnel may not be used other than in law enforcement, emergency response or code enforcement duties and dissemination of City material. Law enforcement duties shall have priority over all other duties of the officers. A copy of all bargaining unit job descriptions shall be furnished to the Union.
- 27.7 Work Rules
 - A. Employees shall be required to observe and comply with written regulations governing their employment as set forth in departmental

procedures and such special and general orders and written communications which are not in conflict with this Agreement.

B Employees shall be required to observe and comply with such additional or supplemental rules and regulations promulgated and published by the Chief of Police or his designees, provided only that such rules and regulations shall not be contrary to any of the provisions of this collective bargaining agreement, nor FSS 447. No disciplinary action will be taken for violation of a rule or regulation until at least forty-eight (48) hours after posting.

ARTICLE 28 NO STRIKES, WORK STOPPAGES, SLOWDOWNS

- 28.1 The Union and each employee agrees that it, the Union, and each employee, will not, under any circumstances or for any reason, including, but not limited to, alleged or actual unfair labor practices, alleged or actual unfair employment practices under an anti-discrimination law, alleged or actual breach of this contract or in sympathy for or support of any other employees or any other Union or their activities, call, encourage, ratify, participate in or engage in any strike, slowdown, or other interruption of work during the term of this Agreement directed at the employer.
- 28.2 It shall be a violation of this Agreement for any employee while on duty to fail or refuse to cross or pass any picket line or other demonstration if such failure or refusal in any way delays or interrupts performance of work.
- 28.3 Any violation of this section by an employee will be grounds for the immediate discharge of any employee involved, and the employer, in its sole discretion, may impose selective discipline on some or all of the employees engaged in a violation of this article. Any grievance under this article that proceeds to arbitration shall involve only the fact question of whether the grievant violated the article, and the degree of discipline imposed by the Employer may not be modified by the arbitrator if a violation occurred.
- 28.4 The officers of the Central Florida Police Benevolent Association agree that they will affirmatively work with the City to prevent or resolve any job action of any type or violations of this Article.

ARTICLE 29 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

- 29.1 The parties acknowledge that during negotiations resulting in this Agreement, they had the right and opportunity to make demands and proposals with respect to any and all subjects not removed by law from the area of collective bargaining and that the complete understanding and Agreements arrived at by the parties after exercise of that right and the opportunity are set forth in this Agreement.
- 29.2 The parties intend that this Agreement shall constitute the sole source of their rights and obligations from and to each other for its term, either by specific provision, by general grant of authority, or by silence. The Union does not waive, and shall retain its right to bargain with the City over the impact of any action taken by the City not set forth or provided for in this Agreement, but such impact bargaining shall not serve to delay management's action until Agreement or impasse is resolved concerning the impact at issue; however, any Agreement reached on such issue shall be retroactive to the date of the change.
- 29.3 It is understood and agreed that neither party hereto has been induced to enter into this Agreement by any representations or promises made by the other which are not expressly set forth herein, and that this document correctly sets forth the effect of all preliminary negotiations, understandings, and Agreements, and supersedes any previous Agreements, whether written or verbal.
- 29.4 This contract constitutes the entire Agreement and understanding between the parties and shall not be modified, altered, changed or amended in any respect except on mutual Agreement set forth in writing and signed by duly authorized representatives of both parties before it will be effective.

ARTICLE 30 DUES DEDUCTION

- 30.1 The City agrees that upon receipt of a voluntary written individual notice from any Bargaining Unit employee, the City shall deduct from their pay dues commencing with the second pay period after receipt of notice. Revocation shall be in writing and shall be effective as to the Employer commencing with the second pay period after the receipt of notice.
- 30.2 Dues shall be deducted each designated pay period and those monies shall be remitted to the Union reasonably thereafter. No deduction shall be made from the pay of an employee for any payroll period in which the employee's net earnings for the payroll period after tax deductions, are less than the amount of dues to be checked off.
- 30.3 The Union will initially notify the City as to the amount of dues. Such notification will be made to the City in writing over the signature of a representative of the Union. Changes in the Union membership dues will be similarly certified to the City and shall be done thirty (30) days in advance of the effective date of such change.
- 30.4 The Union agrees to indemnify or hold harmless the City in connection with any erroneous deduction of dues.

ARTICLE 31 INDEMNIFICATION

31.1 The City will provide legal defense and legal indemnification in accordance with applicable law.

ARTICLE 32 UNION BUSINESS

- 32.1 The Union will inform the City in writing of its designated local representatives on the signing of this Agreement and when a change occurs. A grievance may be processed during duty hours so long as the processing does not interfere with the police department's operations.
- 32.2 Union local representatives and employees shall be allowed to communicate official Union business to members in non-work areas and during non-work time to the extent that duty responsibilities are not disrupted or interfered with.
- 32.3 A designated local representative may be released from duty without pay for the purpose of attendance at grievance hearings, P.E.R.C. hearings, and Union Board meetings, subject to duty requirements as determined by the Chief of Police or his designee.

ARTICLE 33 SEVERABILITY

- 33.1 If any article or section of this Agreement should be held invalid by operation of law or by any tribunal of competent jurisdiction; or, if compliance with or enforcement of any article or section should be restrained by such tribunal, the remainder of this Agreement shall not be affected thereby.
- 33.2 The parties shall enter into collective bargaining negotiations for the purpose of arriving at a mutually satisfactory replacement for such article or section.

ARTICLE 34 HOLIDAYS

34.1 The following shall be recognized paid holidays:

New Year's Eve Martin Luther King Birthday Memorial Day Labor Day Thanksgiving Day Christmas Day New Year's Day Employee's Birthday Independence Day Veteran's Day Day after Thanksgiving Christmas Eve

Floating Holiday, Members shall receive receive one (1) Floating Holiday.

- 34.2 If a paid holiday falls on an employee's regularly scheduled day off, said employee will be compensated for an additional shift at regular straight time pay. If an employee must work on a holiday, the employee will be paid for hours worked plus an additional shift at straight time or compensatory time at the employee's option.
- 34.3 If an employee is off on approved in-line-of-duty illness or injury his scheduled work shift both preceding and following a holiday, and scheduled to work that holiday, the employee shall receive holiday pay in addition to any other remuneration due. The City shall make the determination if an illness or injury is a compensable workers' compensation illness or injury.
- 34.4 Employees scheduled to work holidays and who, in the opinion of management, are not needed to work on said holidays, will be required to take that day off. Employees who are not needed will receive their regular straight time shift pay at regular rate in lieu of holiday pay for said day off. Pre-scheduled use of paid time off that falls on a holiday shall not be charged against the member's accrued paid time off.
- 34.5 An employee intending to take the Floating Holiday must notify the Chief of Police or designee at least five (5) work days in advance. The Floating Holiday may be taken at any time during the fiscal year, subject to approval of the Chief of Police, based upon

work scheduling requirements. Employees are entitled to one (1) Floating Holiday each fiscal year. A Floating Holiday cannot be carried over from year to year.

ARTICLE 35 BEREAVEMENT LEAVE

35.1 In the event of death in the employee's immediate family, the Chief of Police, upon request, will grant seven (7) work days off without loss of regular pay to arrange and/or attend funeral services or related matters.

The seven (7) work days off will start at the employee's option on the day of death or the day following the day of death. In the event the funeral is not conducted during the aforementioned period and provided the employee only used two (2) days or less of Bereavement Leave, the employee may be allowed to use up to five (5) days of Bereavement Leave to use at his discretion.

35.2 Immediate Family Defined:

For the purpose of this Article, immediate family is defined as the employee's father, mother, spouse or children, step-children, grandchildren, father-in-law, mother-in-law, brother, sister, grandparents, step-father, step-mother, ward, significant other, or former legal guardian. The foregoing relatives of the employee's spouse shall be considered as the immediate family for the purpose of this Article or the Chief of Police may grant bereavement for persons other than immediate family.

35.3 Significant Other will be defined as a live-in companion whose name has been previously submitted to and will be maintained confidentially by the Employee Benefits Section, as permitted by Florida Law. Bereavement leave benefits do not extend to relatives of significant others, unless changed by City Council.

35.4 Additional Leave:

Should an employee require additional time other than provided in 35.1, additional time off with pay and charged to accrued personal leave or compensatory time may be requested from the Chief of Police or his designee.

ARTICLE 36

(Left Intentionally Blank)

ARTICLE 37 EMPLOYEE REPRESENTATION AND PBA ACTIVTIES

37.1 - Representation

- (A) The PBA shall select no more than one (1) bargaining unit member who shall be authorized to act as PBA Representatives. Said representative shall act as a liaison between the City and PBA but have no authority to bind the PBA. No more than one (1) PBA Representative shall appear with a bargaining unit employee during a grievance meeting at any one time.
- (B) The PBA shall select Representatives, who may be employed by the PBA or PBA dues-paying bargaining unit members. PBA Representatives may represent bargaining unit members in grievances, inquiries, internal affairs investigations, and Discipline Dispute Resolution meetings. No more than one (1) PBA Representative shall appear with a bargaining unit employee during a grievance meeting, inquiry, internal affairs investigation, or Discipline Dispute Resolution meeting.
- (C) The PBA shall annually furnish to the City with a list of the PBA Representatives, attorneys, and board members. The PBA shall update the lists when changes occur. The City may exclude individuals who do not appear on the lists furnished to the City.
- (D) The City will allow the PBA a minimum of one-half (1/2) hour and no more than one (1) hour, to meet with new employees, provided attendance is voluntary, at a time pre-determined by the City during the Field Training and Evaluation Program (FTEP) or the initial employee orientation. The City may decide to change or eliminate this access provided advanced notification is given to the PBA and, upon a proper request, bargain over the proposed change pursuant to F.S. Chapter 447 and the impasse procedure contained therein. The City reserves the ultimate discretion to adjust the PBA's access between one-half (1/2) hour and one (1) hour and such adjustments will not be subject to further bargaining or impasse procedures.

- (A) The City agrees that designated PBA Representatives shall have reasonable access to public areas of City facilities. Access to secure areas of City facilities shall be denied unless the PBA Representative requests permission from the Chief of Police, or his designee at least forty-eight (48) hours prior to the meeting. The Chief of Police may waive the forty-eight (48) hour notification period. Access to restricted areas for the purpose of meeting with a member of the bargaining unit shall not be unreasonably denied. Access shall be limited to the bargaining unit member's break, meal or approved leave time, absent extraordinary circumstances, and shall be restricted to grievance investigations, matters related to the application of this agreement, as well as disciplinary investigations.
- (B) For purposes of this section, a critical incident includes a traffic crash involving serious injury, the death or serious injury of a person which may have resulted from a bargaining unit member's actions, the discharge of a weapon by a bargaining unit member, or other serious incident.

When a bargaining unit member is involved in a critical incident and requests the assistance of the PBA, the City will allow the member to contact an PBA Representative for assistance and representation; however, at any time the bargaining unit member shall provide public safety information and suspect descriptions. If a member fails to contact a PBA Representative after several attempts and a reasonable period of time, the member may request a supervisor's assistance with making contact with a PBA Representative.

- (C) Bargaining unit members, other than witnesses, involved in a critical incident, shall not be required to give an on-scene interview (other than providing public safety information and complete suspect descriptions), unless they voluntarily consent to do so.
- (D) Bargaining unit members, other than witnesses, involved in a critical incident, shall be allowed to have a PBA Representative or attorney present during a walkthrough of a critical incident scene when the walk through is authorized by the Chief of Police.

37.3 - Bulletin Boards

- (A) The City will continue to furnish wall space for the PBA's existing glass-encased and locked bulletin boards. PBA remains responsible for purchasing and maintaining the bulletin boards which shall not exceed 36 x 48 inches. This provision is limited to permanent City facilities where bargaining unit members are assigned.
- (B) The use of PBA bulletin board space is limited to the following notices:
 - 1. Recreation and social affairs of the PBA,
 - 2. PBA meetings,
 - 3. Reports of PBA committees,
 - 4. PBA benefit programs,
 - 5. Current PBA Contract,
 - 6. Training and educational opportunities,
 - 7. Notice and announcement of internal elections, and
 - 8. Other materials pertaining to the welfare of PBA members, excluding election campaign materials of any type or kind.
- (C) PBA membership applications and return envelopes may be attached to each bulletin board.
- (D) The PBA shall not post any material reflecting adversely on the City, or any of its officers or employees. Additionally, the PBA shall not post any material violating or having the effect of violating any law, rule, or regulation. The City shall have the right to remove such material, at which time the PBA will be notified. Such removal shall be subject to the grievance procedure contained in this agreement up to and including Step 3.
- (E) Notices posted must be dated and bear the name of the PBA's Authorized Representative.
- (F) The City may remove bulletin board privileges for repeat violations of these provisions. Removal of privileges shall be subject to the grievance procedure contained in this agreement.

37.4 – Employee Use of Electronic Mail

To the extent permitted by the City and the Chief of Police, the PBA shall be allowed access and use of the City's electronic mail system, pursuant to guidelines maintained by the Chief of Police and the City.

- 37.5 Employee Lists
 - (A) Upon request of a designated PBA Representative, the City will provide the PBA with a list via electronic mail which includes the name, work address on file, job title, gross salary, job location, hourly rate, pay grade/step, and sworn date for each bargaining unit member.
 - (B) A bargaining unit member shall be responsible for promptly notifying the PBA upon resignation, termination, retirement, transfer, promotion, or demotion out of the bargaining unit.

37.6 - Negotiations

- (A) The PBA may designate bargaining unit members to serve on its Negotiation Committee (two elected members and In house PBA Representative). Bargaining unit members serving on the Negotiation Committee who are not on their regularly-scheduled shifts during scheduled negotiation sessions shall not be paid by the City. Employee members of the Negotiation Committee who are on their regularly-scheduled shifts during scheduled negotiation sessions shall be paid for such time in actual negotiation sessions. A bargaining unit member shall not be compensated by the City for time spent preparing for negotiations. The Inhouse Representative for the PBA's Negotiation Committee who are not on their regularly-scheduled shifts during the negotiations sessions shall be for compensated while attending all meetings and negotiations (two-hour minimum).
- (B) A bargaining unit member's attendance at negotiation sessions shall not unduly hamper the operations of the work unit or negatively impact staffing levels necessary to meet minimum manpower standards.

ARTICLE 38 PERSONNEL RECORDS

38.1 – Personnel File

- (A) All personnel records shall be maintained consistent with applicable law, and specifically Florida's public records law set forth in Chapter 119, Florida Statutes. The City shall maintain an official Human Resources personnel file for each bargaining unit member which shall be stored at EPD Human Resources. This shall not preclude supervisors from maintaining working files on subordinates.
- (B) If any material is placed in a bargaining unit member's official Human Resources personnel file, he may supplement the public record with a written response.
- (C) A bargaining unit member will have the right to review his official Human Resources personnel file, and applicable public records in a supervisor's working file that are subject to disclosure under Florida law, at reasonable times specified by the Chief of Police or his designee under the supervision of the designated records custodian, to the extent permitted by law.
- (D) If the Chief of Police, or designee, the Public Employees Relations Commission, the courts, an arbitrator, or other statutory authority determines a document has been placed in the employee's official Human Resources personnel file in error or is otherwise invalid, the document shall be stamped "NOT VALID," placed in an envelope together with a letter of explanation, and maintained in the employee's official Human Resources personnel file. The contents of the envelope will be disclosed pursuant to the requirements of Florida law.

38.2 – Privacy

Whenever a person not employed by the City asks to review an employee's official Human Resources personnel file, Disciplinary file, or Internal Affairs file, the City will notify the employee, in writing, email or verbally, of the request and the name and affiliation of the person, if the person making the request voluntarily provides such information.

38.3 - Counseling Notes

The parties agree that a written counseling form does not constitute discipline and is not subject to the grievance procedure set forth in this agreement. Written counseling forms typically document performance issues and related remedial measures. Counseling forms shall be utilized and maintained consistent with agency policy and applicable law. Prior to issuing a counseling form, the issuing supervisor should meet and discuss the issues to be addressed in the counseling form with the bargaining unit member. Only the bargaining unit member may attach a rebuttal to the counseling form. A counseling form shall, at a bargaining unit member's request, be removed from the section level and/or supervisory file twelve (12) months after date of service, unless an additional counseling form. Under such circumstances, the counseling form shall be subject to removal in accordance with the time limits for the later counseling form or disciplinary action.

38.4 - Verbal and Written Reprimands

If an employee is not disciplined for one (1) continuous year from the date the "Notice of Disciplinary Action" is served for a verbal or written reprimand, he may request that the verbal or written reprimand be removed from his personnel file. This request must be in writing and forwarded via chain of command to the Chief of Police. Any issue relating to whether a verbal and/or written reprimand was not properly removed from a bargaining unit employee's file, pursuant to the requirements of this article, shall be subject to the grievance procedure set forth in this agreement.

ARTICLE 39 ACTING RANKS

39.1 – Working Temporarily in a Higher Classification

Any bargaining unit member who is directed by the Chief of Police to act in a higher promotional classification for a continuous period of eighty-four (84) hours or more shall receive an increase in base salary during the period of assignment which shall be retroactive to the initial date of the acting assignment. The bargaining unit member shall receive an increase of ten percent (10%) of the member's regular salary.

39.2 - Removal

Any bargaining unit member may be removed from an acting rank assignment in order to facilitate training opportunities for other bargaining unit members; however, a bargaining unit member shall not be removed from an acting rank assignment solely for the purpose of avoiding payment under this article.

39.3 - Limitations

Unless the Chief of Police decides otherwise for operational reasons, a bargaining unit member may be assigned to a permanent vacancy in a higher rank for no more than one hundred eighty (180) continuous days.

ARTICLE 40 LABOR MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

- 40.1 There shall be a Labor Management Committee established to consist of the Police Chief, one member appointed by the Chief, the Union Representative, and one member appointed by the Union representative. The purpose of this committee shall be to meet and confer concerning problems of a general nature which may from time to time arise in the Police Department, to promote the harmonious operation of the department, and to make recommendations to the Chief concerning resolution of any such problems. The committee will meet at a mutually acceptable time, place, and date set by the Chief. Recommendations of the committee will be advisory in nature only. The Labor-Management Committee meetings shall not be a substitute for collective bargaining and shall not address issues involving grievances.
- 40.2 The Chief agrees that if the Union representative, while on duty, desires to appear before a scheduled Council meeting, at which discussions concerning terms or conditions of employment or contract negotiations which affect bargaining unit members are to be held, then he may be allowed to attend without loss of pay, after first receiving permission from the Chief or his designated representative. In no case will premium pay be granted for attendance as described above.

ARTICLE 41 DURATION

- 41.1 This Agreement shall take effect upon ratification by the Union and approval by City Council and shall continue in full force and effect until midnight of September 30, 2023, when it shall terminate. In order to renegotiate this Agreement, written notice shall be given by either party not less than 90 days nor more than 120 days prior to the expiration date. If the Union fails to notice the City of its intent to renegotiate this Agreement in the time limits specified, the Agreement shall automatically renew for the next fiscal year.
- 41.2 Any notice to be given under this Agreement shall be given by documented email, registered or certified mail; if given by the Union, it shall be addressed to the City of Edgewood, 405 Bagshaw Way Larue Avenue, Edgewood, Florida 32809-3406-; and any such notice by the City shall be addressed to the Central Florida Police Benevolent Association, Inc., a Chapter of the Florida Police Benevolent Association, Inc., 300 East Brevard Street, Tallahassee, Florida, 32301.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have hereunder set their hands this 24th day of

hd 2020.

Central Florida Police Benevolent Association. Inc.

Stephen A. Micciche Chief Negotlator Florida Police Benevolent Association

Christopher Mende Officer First Class Representative C.F.P.B.A

Ronald Beardslee Officer Bargaining Unit Member

Robert Brahm Officer Bargaining Unit Member

City of Edgewood

Yohn Dowless Mayor City of Edgewood

John T. Fresburg Chief of Police City of Edgewood

Drew Suluth

Attorney City of Edgewood

Ben Pievce City Councilmember City of Edgewood